
HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
316 W. Webster Ave., Muskegon, Michigan 49440 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

AGENDA 
 
Date:    Tuesday April 16, 2024 

Time:    4:30 PM  

Location:   HPL Meeting Room 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

2. APPROVE AGENDA                                      (Motion to Approve) 

 
3. APPROVE MINUTES of March 19, 2024                                          (Motion to Approve) 

 

4. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS 
 

5. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

a. Outreach, Collaboration, Training 

b. March 2024 Statistical Report  
 

6. FINANCIAL REPORT                          (Motion to pay bills) 
   

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

a. Budget and Finance                                                 
b. Buildings and Grounds     
c. Personnel        

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

 
9. OLD BUSINESS 

 

10. ADJOURN 



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY

BOARD MEETING MINUTES

Meeting Date: 19 March 2024 @ 4:30 pm

Location: Hackley Public Library

Present: Bailey, DeVoogd, Duren, Evans, Huss, VanFossen.

Absent: Borgman

Library Staff: Zappacosta and Quinn

Public:

1. Call to Order – 4:33 pm

2. Approval of Agenda

a. VanFossen/DeVoogd. Approved.

3. Approval of December Minutes

a. Bailey/Duren. Approved.

4. Public Comment – None

5. Director’s Report

a. A group of realtors came to the library to get more information about the area.

b. Big Read Lakeshore planning meeting.

c. Host of MLA spring reception

d. Melissa Thatcher and Lydia Schmidt were at the high school teaching freshman how to use

digital access library cards.

6. Financial Report

a. Approval of payment of bills in the amount of $14,311.86. Bailey/VanFossen. Approved.

b. Adjustments will be coming to the budget.

7. Building and Grounds Report

a. Insurance quotes.

b. Looked at RFP for strategic planning.

c. Discussed reaction to meetings with DMDC members.

8. Personnel Report

a. Discussed 3x5 Coach Approach

b. Roles and responsibilities

c. Discussed best route for open technology position. Joe put together an RFP.

9. New Business

10. Old Business

a. Brainstorming project on the ILS project.

11. Adjourn – 5:47 pm

Next Regular Meeting: April 16 @ 4:30 PM



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
LIBRARY DIRECTOR’S REPORT  
 

 

Report Presented April 16, 2024 

 

 

Collaboration, Training - Joe 

 

Digital Marketing [March 20] - M. Metzger and J. Zappacosta met with a representative from 

Cumulus Media to discuss transitioning the Library's advertising efforts to be more digital-

focused. The goal was to leverage digital advertising to target specific audiences across various 

websites and digital platforms. This plan would include the Library transitioning away from a 

traditional mailed newsletter in favor of more personalized, data-driven digital advertising 

campaigns. 

 

All Staff Meeting [March 27] - Nathaniel Schmidt presented the staff with the idea of taking 

personal accountability for what we can control and letting go of what they cannot directly 

address, delegating those to the appropriate individuals or teams. 

 

 

Community Outreach  

 

Did you Know & Seed Library 

Mallory Metzger, Community Outreach Coordinator, has been partnering on a series called "Did 

You Know?" This series highlights lesser-known library resources and services that patrons and 

community members may be unaware of. 

 

For example, Metzger recently promoted the "1,2,3 Play with Me" workshop, which provides 

interactive learning opportunities for young children and their caregivers. The monthly feature 

on the Library and MAISD social media will educate patrons about the Library's cooperative 

system, allowing materials to be easily checked out and returned at various locations across the 

network.  

 

Additionally, Metzger will feature the side room adjacent to the tech lab, which serves as a 

quiet, meditative space for patrons, as well as the Seed Library and Shakespeare Garden. The 

Seed Library is an ongoing effort of the Adult Services Librarian Amelia Chea.   

  

Michigan Great Read 

The Hackley Public Library is involved with bringing renowned Great Michigan Read author 

Angeline Boulley to Muskegon on Wednesday, April 17, at Orchard View Schools. The project 

extended beyond just funding. Metzger assisted with marketing efforts, including drafting a 

press release, sharing information on social media and local websites, and coordinating media 

coverage like a Fox 17 interview and radio spot. 

https://www.facebook.com/orchardview.org?__cft__%5b0%5d=AZWc5HMNwna8x1ar5rFK5oqTVxhaHSIAsoUDJ-rBvYl1yhah6nEdwKKuAbSz4ZGK8-KLeBSDuPjJIapDFOg3k96EQ9fhQ-GBSipZcXBwXk31R3-kSN7rKWELR5ouSvpery5ZZ6oKrSqVFWd5TeimJqtQW6GdpyMPY4U4mpjPLKBXxeUMHPLmfh5K8nuNnrSj7Jg&__tn__=-%5dK-R


HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
LIBRARY DIRECTOR’S REPORT  
 

 

For the event itself, Metzger compiled the slide presentation by gathering and stitching together 

the materials provided by others. On the event day, she will help with technical tasks like mic 

checks and ensuring the slideshow runs smoothly. 

 

 

March 2024 Statistical Report – See Attached Report 

 



Hackley Public Library March 2024
Circulation Programs

NUMBER of Programs ATTENDANCE

Children's Outreach Info 5 219
Board Books 169 Passive Program 3 0
Picture Books 694 Youth Services Craft Kits        2 304
Easy Books 281
Juv. New Books 207 Youth 12 233
Fiction 668 Adult 10 151
Non-fiction 579 All Ages
Audiobooks 6  Total 32 384
Graphic Novels 387
Movies 438 Outreach Program 2 4
Music 17 Programming Total 44 907
Video Games 29

Children's 3,475 32% Community/Rentals
Interactions

IN PERSON OTHER

Young Adult Genealogy
New Books 29 Childrens
Fiction 170 Circulation
Graphic Novels 79 Technology Help Desk
Audiobooks 0 Total 0

Young Adult 278 3% Patron Visits # of Days

Youth Services Total 3,753 35% 0
Adult Torrent House 156

NEW Library
Fiction 1397
Non-fiction 1382 Total Vists 156
Periodicals 68 Public Computers
Large Print 76 Library Torrent House

Graphics 183 Public Computer 61
Spanish 25 Wi-Fi

Adult Print 3,131 29% Total 61

Movies 1,528 Collection ADDED WEEDED

Audiobook 78 Adult 316 82
Music CD 90 Youth 70 32
Hotspots/Library of Things 13 eMaterials 16,460 N/A

Non Print 1,709 16% Total 386 [1] 114

Adult Services Total 4,840 45% Circulation 10,727
ILL IN OUT New Library Card 160
LLC 356 1,073 Interactions 0
MeL Cat 104 122 Programs 44

Patron Visits
Digital Collection PAC Usage
Overdrive 1245 Collection 386 114
Kanopy 1023 visits 118
Hoopla 771 Website 7,856

Digital Total 2134 20%



[1] Excludes 16,460 eMaterials



Hackley Public Library March 2024 Programming, Outreach, Promotions
Count 3

Adult Programs Count 10 Total 151 Youth Programs Count 12 Total 233 Storytimes Total 75

No. Title Attendance Date Virtual Y/N Notes No. Title Attendance Date Virtual Y/N Notes No. Attendance Date Virtual Y/N Notes

1 Book Wreath Craft 20 3/4 N Over full registry (typically some 
no-shows) 1 Paws and read 10 3/11 & 

3/25 N 1 37 3/1 N N

2 Firekeeper's Daughter discussion 7 3/5 N 20 registered 2 Llama Destroys the World 25 3/16 N Special Saturday Story Time / 
Reading Party 2 30 3/15 N N

3 Music at HPL - Jap Thompson 
Duo 50 3/8 Y 42 in-person, and at least 6-7 

live viewers at a time. 3 LEGO Pop Up 13 3/20 N 3 8 3/22 N N

4 Books on Tap 20 3/12 N N/A 4 Story Time 37 3/1 N 4 N

5 Left to Write 3 3/13 N N/A 5 Story Time 30 3/15 N 5

6 Family Pictures Come to Life - 
MCGS program 16 3/16 Y Registration included HPL's and 

MCGS's. 6 Story Time 8 3/22 N 6

7 Chair Yoga 13 3/22 Y
24 registered

7 Knot On My Watch 5 3/21 N Intergenerational Fiber Arts 
Group 7

8 Senior Social Hour 10 3/28 N 20 registered 8
Teen Craft - Mixed Paper 

Sketchbook 8 3/25 N 8

9 Basic Intro to Comptuers 6 3/30 N Full registry 9 FP Week 2 21 3/6 N 9
10 Intro to Excel 6 3/30 N Full registry 10 FP Week 3 25 3/13 N 10
11 11 FP Week 4 26 3/20 N 11
12 12 FP Week 5 25 3/27 N 12
13 13 13
14 14 14
15 15 15

Outreach Programs Outreach Informational
No. Title Attendance Date Total 4 No. Title Attendance Date Total 165

1 MMA Story Time 3 3/14 Count 2 1 Bunker Elementary Outreach 
(attendance is approx.) 120 3/5 Count 2

2 Every Woman's Place 1 2
MMS Outreach / Parent Teacher 

Conferences (attendance is 
approx.)

45 3/14

3 3
4 4
5 5

School Visits Passive Programs/Promos
No. School Attendance Date Total 54 No. Title Attendance Date Total 0

1 Daycare visit to the library 10 Count 3 1 Count 0
2 MHS special education visit 9 2
3 Three Oaks visit 35 3/ 21 3
4 4
5 5

Craft Kits
No. Name Participants Date Total 304

1 Japanese Side Sewn Book 152 Ongoing Count 2
2 Bookmark 152 Ongoing
3
4
5



























HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE  
 

 

Meeting Date: April 9, 2023 

Committee Members: Oneata Bailey, Ardena Duren, Kevin Huss 

 

 

Budget Adjustments  

It was recently discovered that some library budget errors caused it to be misaligned. These 
errors came to light during the monthly budget review committee meeting. To address these 
problems, the committee discussed several potential solutions involving conducting a full 
budget audit to identify and correct any other discrepancies. Library Director J. Zappacosta is 
scheduled to meet with the Library's auditor, Patrick Mulcher, on April 16 to begin reviewing 
and aid in determining the appropriate fixes. The goal is to have the budget fully reconciled and 
realigned with budget adjustments at the May 2024 committee meeting.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS MONTHLY COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES  
 
Meeting Date: March 4, 2024 

 
 
Present:  Kevin Huss, Barbara VanFossen, Greg Borgman 
 
Absent:   
 
Staff:   Joseph Zappacosta 
 
Guest:   
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – K. Huss called the meeting to order at 4:35 PM 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 5, 2024 meeting minutes were approved by 
consensus 

 
3. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS – There were no public comments 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS  

• No consensus was reached on topics in new business  
5. OLD BUSINESS 

• No consensus was reached on topics in old business 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT – adjourned the meeting at 5:10 PM. 
  
 
*See the Committee Report for the details of the meeting.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

Meeting Date: April 9, 2024 

Committee Members: Kevin Huss, Barb VanFossen, Greg Borgman 

 

 

Accessible Staff Entrance Ramp 

 

T. Kirchenbauer, the Maintenance Manager, has been exploring options to improve the 

accessibility of the back staff entrance to the Library. He has received one initial quote but plans 

to seek additional quotes to compare. 

 

The proposed project involves adding a new interior ramp that is less steep and wider. 

Additionally, handrails are to be included to provide better support and safety for staff 

members accessing the entrance. 

 

 

Strategic Plan  

 

The Request for Proposals (RFP) is attached to the board packet for review. However, here is a 

summary: The Library is seeking a comprehensive 3-year strategic plan that supports its vision, 

mission, and core values, with clearly defined SMART goals for the modernization and 

renovation of the Torrent House facility. The plan should include: 

• Detailed strategies for integrating new technology. 

• Developing innovative programs. 

• Redesigning physical spaces to create a more inviting user experience. 

Additionally, the selected firm will provide ongoing accountability and oversight to ensure the 

Library remains on track with the plan's implementation and objectives.   

 

J. Zappacosta will conduct the Question and Answer session listed on April 22; others are 

welcome to join. If there is no need for changes, the RFP will go out after the April meeting.   

 

 

Union Contract 

 

The Library will begin negotiating with the representatives from the SEIU labor union later this 

month. Atty. Keith Brodie, who worked with Bob Sikkle, will represent the Library. 

 



 
 

 

316 W Webster Ave | Muskegon, MI 49440 

 

Request for Proposal (RFP): Hackley Public Library Strategic Plan 

 

I. Introduction 

The Hackley Public Library ("Library") seeks proposals from qualified strategic planning firms to develop 

a comprehensive plan that will guide the Library's future direction and modernization efforts, 

emphasizing the renovation of the Torrent House.   

The Hackley Public Library has served Muskegon's community for over 125 years, making it an essential 

hub for its residents. The Library has a rich history and is committed to expanding and improving its 

services to meet the evolving needs of its diverse patrons. One of the Library's primary objectives is to 

rejuvenate the Torrent House, a significant historic building adjacent to the Library that could become a 

pivotal gateway to the downtown core. 

A virtual Question-and-Answer virtual session is scheduled for April Monday 22 at 1 PM, and interested 

parties are requested to confirm attendance.  

Important Dates and Times Summary 

Bid window for submission:    April 17 through May 3, 2024 

Online Question and Answer Session:    April 22, 2024 @ 1 PM 

Bid Opening (Library Board Committee):   May 6, 2024  

Final Discussion Announcement:    May or June 2024 

III. Scope of WorVI. Organizational Statements 

We are open to updating, changing, or modifying organizational statements as part of this project's 

scope, provided it does not excessively consume time or detract from other processes. 

MISSION STATEMENT  

Hackley Public Library provides programs and services to unify the community, promote creativity, and 

encourage lifelong learning while preserving our storied past to prepare for an ever-changing future. 

VISION STATEMENT 

The vision of Hackley Public Library is to collaborate with our community partners to promote access to 

knowledge, stand against intolerance, encourage literacy, free exchange of ideas, and expand cultural 

competence through our collection, programming, and dedication to service. 

Value Statements  



 
 

 

316 W Webster Ave | Muskegon, MI 49440 

 

Access: The Hackley Public Library is a leader in celebrating reading and transforming lives through 

knowledge and information. The Library provides accessible services through current technology and 

resources. 

Aspirational VALUE STATEMENTS 

Customers first: Our Library exists to serve the community we serve. We make every decision and 

measure every outcome based on how well it has accomplished its needs. 

Programming and Services:  We acknowledge that the needs and wants of the community members we 

serve are ever-changing and evolving.   We are committed to providing equal, free, vibrant, innovative 

library services and resources. 

Positive Work Culture:  We want to work in a supportive, collaborative environment that values all 

employees' thoughts and ideas.  We acknowledge that positivity helps with problem-solving and that 

negativity causes stress and makes solving problems harder. We are committed to maintaining an 

organization with a culture that encourages us to be our best selves. 

Mission Driven:  We understand that our community will benefit from enjoying and valuing reading and 

lifelong learning.  We are committed to providing a library environment that promotes reading and 

learning to a broad interest and understanding of library services level.   

Tradition:  The Hackley Public Library has a long and storied history of serving the community.  We are 

committed to sharing and maintaining the traditional values that have made us great.    

IV. Proposal Submission 

A. Instructions 

Qualified firms are invited to submit proposals to the Hackley Public Library by following the 

bidding documents and specifications. The Library's objective in issuing this Request for 

Proposal is to obtain competitive bids from which it will select a contractor to provide the 

Library with an actionable organizational plan.   

 

The proposal must include the following sections to be considered: 

 

1. Details on their experience conducting strategic planning projects for non-profit 

organizations, preferably public libraries 

2. List of at least three (3) references, including contact information, for similar strategic 

planning projects the firm has completed 

3. A sample of a complete strategic planning report they have prepared for a similar project 

4. Outline of proposed methodology and approach for carrying out the tasks in the scope of 

work 



 
 

 

316 W Webster Ave | Muskegon, MI 49440 

 

5. Explanation of process for engaging stakeholders, gathering data, developing the plan, and 

ensuring accountability 

6. Provide information on the qualifications and relevant experience of the key personnel who 

would be assigned to the project 

7. Describe the ability to meet deadlines and stay within budgets for similar projects 

 
B. Proposal Submission 

  
Local consulting firms will be given preference; however, this is not a requirement. HPL reserves 
the right to delay, amend, reissue, or cancel, in whole or in part, this RFP (Request for Proposal) 
at any time without prior notice. HPL also retains the right to modify the RFP process and 
timeline. This does not obligate HPL to accept any proposal or execute an agreement with any 
bidders, nor is HPL responsible for any costs incurred by the respondents in preparing responses 
to this RFP. HPL reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, to accept or reject any or all 
items in the proposal, and to award the contracts in whole or in part as is determined to be in 
the best interest of HPL. Furthermore, HPL reserves the right to negotiate with any respondent 
after proposals are reviewed if such action is deemed in the best interest of HPL. 
 
Two (2) copies of the complete proposal must be received by 5 PM on May 3 to be considered.  
 
Proposals shall be addressed to: 

 
Joseph Zappacosta, Director 
Hackley Public Library 
316 W. Webster Ave.  
Muskegon, MI 49441 

 
The lower left corner of the submittal envelope should be marked: 
PROPOSAL STRATEGIC PLANNING - HPL 
Submitted proposals become the property of the Library and will not be returned.  

 
V. Evaluation Criteria 

Proposals are to be evaluated based on the following criteria: 

1. Understandability of the costs associated with proposed services involving the creation, 

implementation, and ongoing guidance engaged in a strategic plan 

2. Cost-effectiveness and competitiveness of the proposal 

3. Timeliness and feasibility of the proposed solutions 



 
 

 

316 W Webster Ave | Muskegon, MI 49440 

 

4. Demonstrated strong project management skills, including the ability to deliver a viable and 

meaningful plan, meet deadlines, maintain accountability within the organization, and provide 

thorough follow-up 

5. References and client satisfaction 

VI. Contact Information 

For inquiries and clarifications regarding this RFP, please contact:  

Joseph Zappacosata, Director, Hackley Public Library, jzappacosta@hackleylibrary.org, (231) 722-8003 



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES* 
 

316 West Western Ave., Muskegon, MI 49440 

Meeting Date: March 5, 2024 

 

Present:  Barbara VanFossen, Thom DeVoogd,  
 
Absent:  Karen Evans 
 
Staff:   Joseph Zappacosta 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – B. VanFossen called the meeting to order at 4:35 PM 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 6, 2024 
 
3. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS – There were no public comments 

 
4. NEW/OLD BUSINESS  

• Non recommendations were made to the board.   
    

5. ADJOURNMENT – adjourned the meeting at 5:45 PM. 
  
 
*See the Committee Report for the details of the meeting.   

 

 



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

 
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 
 

 

Meeting Date: April, 2024 

Committee Members: Barb VanFossen (Chair), Karen Evans, Thom DeVoogd 

 

 
Managed IT Service RFP 
 
Chairperson Barb VanFossen opened and announced each of the three proposals the Library 
received in response to the proposal request sent out in March 2024.   
 
The three proposals were from IP Consulting, Verdant TCS, and Catchmark IT. The attached bid 
tabulations sheet outlines the information gathered, including contact information, base bid, 
onboarding fees, non-contract service fees, timeline the company can start, and initial contract 
commitment. Each committee member will review their copies of the proposals and the 
tabulations sheet and report any questions or requests for more information to the director.   
In the meantime, J. Zappacosta will contact the references that were listed in the proposals.   
 
The committee may request an interview with representatives from all or non of the service 
providers listed.  The committee may also choose not to award any of the three a contract 
based on feasibility and costs and decide to recommend that the Library consider hiring for an 
IT position.   

 
 

Staffing Update 
 
J. Zappacosta reviewed the current status of recently vacated positions and the status of the 
candidate search for the Library Buisness Manager.  
 
 
 
 



HACKLEY PUBLIC LIBRARY
IT MANAGED SERVICES BID TABULATIONS

Bidder Name Contact Base Bid
 Onboarding 

Fees Non Contracted Services Fees
Timeline and 

Feasability
Contract 

Commitmet

IP Consulting

Jeff Winker 
 Account Manager 
 (616) 818-1974 
 jeff.winker@ipconsultinginc.com
 8000 Towers Crescent Dr., Suite 
1350 
 Vienna, VA 22182

$5,425.00 Per Month + 
$375.00 for website 
management

$6,925.00

Remote Support - 6:00pm - 8:00am EST M-F
$195 per hour
Remote Support - Weekends (minimum 2 hr)
$250 per hour
Remote Support - Holidays (minimum 4 hr)
$250 per hour
Onsite Support - 8:00am – 6:00pm EST M-F (minimum 8 hr)
$195 per hour plus travel time and expenses
Support and Project Rates for services outside of contract
$195 per hour or flat fee as noted in scoped project

Can start 
immediatly

3 Year - $215,725.00 
estimated

Verdant

Mike Shollack, CVO, President, 
Verdant TCS T: 616-210-1760 e: 
mshallack@verdanttcs.com 660 
Ada Dr SE, Suite 300, Ada, MI 
49301

$5,537.50 no fee $125 per hour   No fee for onsite support during designated business 
hours.  After 5 PM and weekends $125 per hour

Can start 
immediatly 3 Year Contract

Catchmark Technologies

Jeff Burel, Directing Partner - Tech 
Services Catchmark O: 616-278-
0434 M: 616-710-2318 e: 
jburel@catchmarkit.com www.
catchmarkit.com

$9,085.00 $9,085.00
$100 to 180 per hour         General Support outside of contract $140 
per hour   Weekday Afterhours support $180 per hour, Weekend or 
Holiday Support $220 per hour

Can start 
immediatly 3 Year Contract


	1. Board Meeting Agenda March 2024
	2. Board Meeting Minutes March 2024
	3. Library Director Report April 2024
	4. HPL FY 2024 Statistical Report - March
	5. HPL FY 2024 Statistical Report - March Programs
	6. Finance Reports March 2024
	7. Budget and Finance Committee Report April 2024
	8. B&G Committee Minutes March 4, 2023 docx
	9. B&G Committee Report April 9, 2024
	10. Hackley Public Library - Strategic Plan RFP DRAFT
	11. Personnel Committee Minutes March 5,  2024
	12. Personnel Committee Report April 2024
	13. HPL IT Managed Services Bid Tabulations - Sheet1 (1)

